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“SILK WAY WEST AIRLINES” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE PREPARATION AND  
APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that present fairly, 
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of “Silk Way West Airlines” Limited Liability 
Company, its representative offices and branches (the “Group”) as at 31 December 2022, consolidated 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and of 
significant accounting policies and notes to the consolidated financial statements in compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”). 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for: 
 

 Properly selecting and applying accounting policies; 

 Presenting information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, 
comparable and understandable information; 

 Providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are 
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and 
conditions on the Group’s consolidated financial position and consolidated financial performance; 
and 

 Making an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
Management is also responsible for: 
 

 Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls 
throughout the Group; 

 Maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time consolidated financial position 
of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group comply with IFRSs; 

 Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with local legislation and accounting 
standards; 

 Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and 

 Preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 were authorised for issue by 
management on 06 June 2023. 
 
 
 
On behalf of Management: 
 
 
 
 

Mr. Wolfgang Meier 
President 
 
Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan 
06 June 2023 

 Mrs. Jamila Alimirzayeva 
Financial Executive Vice-President 
 
Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan 
06 June 2023 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Shareholder and the Board of Directors of “Silk Way West Airlines” Limited Liability Company 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of “Silk Way West Airlines” Limited Liability 
Company, its representative offices and branches (the “Group”), which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statements 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash flows and 
consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”). 
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the “IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Why the matter was determined to be a key 
audit matter 

 How the matter was addressed in the audit 

Transportation revenue recognition 

Transportation revenue is one of the key measures 
of financial performance and amounted to  
AZN 3,155,118 thousand (Note 5) for the year 
ended 31 December 2022. 
 
Transportation revenue is highly affected by the 
supply and demand on the market. The input, 
processing, and maintenance of rates and freight 
information in the air waybills and accounting 
system involve manual operations. Generation and 
collection of revenue in various geographic 
locations also give rise to an inherent risk that 
revenue could be subject to manipulation. 
 
 

 Our audit procedures around revenue recognition 
included the following: 
 
• obtaining an understanding of the business 
processes, including authorization of transaction, 
its processing in IT systems and recognition of 
revenue; 
 
• assessing the design, implementation and 
operating effectiveness of management’s key 
controls over revenue recognition;  
 
• inspecting air waybills and other supporting 
documentation for transportation revenue 
transactions on a sample basis; 
 
• performing analytical procedures on 
transportation revenue by developing expectations 
using operational inputs and information 
generated from public sources, and comparing 
such expectations with recorded revenue; 
 
• performing analytical procedures on trend and 
correlation of transportation revenue with non-
financial parameters (number of flights per 
destinations, flight hours, fuel consumed, and 
cargo weight transported); 
 
• reconciling non-financial parameters (number of 
flights, flight hours) with technical data on flight 
cycles and hours on a sample basis; 
 
• performing analytical procedures and review of 
subsequent movements in uncollected portion of 
transportation revenue; and 
 
• testing sales agent commissions and incentives. 
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Why the matter was determined to be a key 
audit matter 

 How the matter was addressed in the audit 

Revaluation of aircraft and related overhauls 

The Group applies revaluation model for aircraft 
and related overhauls class of assets. 
 
The carrying value of the Group’s aircraft and 
related overhauls was AZN 961,433 thousand as at 
31 December 2022 (Note 12 and 13). 
 
At the end of each reporting period, management 
assesses whether there have been significant 
changes in the fair value of aircraft and related 
overhauls, necessitating a revaluation.  
 
As a result of the assessment, management 
concluded that no revaluation is needed for the 
current year since the change in fair values 
obtained from independent sources (proxy fair 
values) does not materially differ from the 
depreciation charge for the asset class. Last 
revaluation of the Group’s aircraft was performed 
as of 31 December 2020. 
 
We identified the assessment of revaluation of 
aircraft and related overhauls as a key audit matter 
because of the significance of the carrying value of 
such assets to the consolidated financial 
statements and because whether or not a 
revaluation is needed is a significant judgment that 
could be subject to management bias.  
 

 Our audit procedures included the following: 
 
• inquiring management and reviewing board 
minutes and other papers to understand whether 
there were any events and circumstances that 
could indicate change in aircraft and related 
overhauls values; 
 
• challenging key management assumptions, 
including useful lives and residual values applied by 
management for depreciation, as well as market 
lease rates; 
 
• performing independent analysis of contradictory 
information, if any, using evidence obtained from 
public sources; and 
 
• inspecting information provided by external 
specialists and used by management as proxy fair 
values for aircraft and related overhauls as at 31 
December 2022. 
 
 

 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.  
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period, and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
 
 
 
Jamal Hasanov 
Engagement Partner  
 
06 June 2023 
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“SILK WAY WEST AIRLINES” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 

 Notes 

Year ended  
31 December  

2022 

 Year ended  
31 December  

2021 

      
Revenue 5 3,225,006  2,879,573 
Other operating income  19,522  27,094 

     
Total revenue  3,244,528  2,906,667 

      
Expenses     
Fuel  (886,577)  (546,327) 
Handling, landing and navigation charges  (317,331)  (334,820) 
Depreciation 12, 13 (161,620)  (159,575) 
Aircraft and engine lease costs 6 (149,716)  (162,870) 
Commissions  (132,567)  (118,883) 
Staff costs 7 (84,334)  (88,846) 
Engineering and maintenance  (61,337)  (70,225) 
Fees for transportation by chartered flights  (59,623)  (132,845) 
Material expenses  (36,093)  (16,389) 
Trucking costs  (37,400)  (51,156) 
Crew rental and other crew costs  (34,146)  (37,015) 
Taxes other than income tax  (18,826)  (9,803) 
Other operating expenses  (37,536)  (39,325) 

     
Total operating expenses  (2,017,106)  (1,768,079) 

      
     
Operating profit  1,227,422  1,138,588 

      
Finance cost, net 8 (50,581)  (49,557) 
Foreign exchange loss, net   (11,260)  (6,610) 
Impairment (losses) / recoveries on financial assets, net 14, 26 (3,215)  1,977 
Other income, net 9 12,875  67,063 

      
Profit before income tax  1,175,241  1,151,461 

      
Income tax expense 10 (235,363)  (231,231) 
      
Net profit for the year and other comprehensive income  939,878  920,230 

      
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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“SILK WAY WEST AIRLINES” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 

 Notes 
31 December  

2022 
 31 December  

2021 

     
Non-current assets     
Right-of-use assets 13 806,749  861,923 
Property and equipment 12 355,592  298,076 
Advances paid 22 368,603  180,150 
Restricted cash 19 20,400  20,400 
Security deposits  19,846  22,495 
Other long-term assets  14,229  14,091 

      
Total non-current assets  1,585,419  1,397,135 

      
Current assets     
Bank deposits 20 425,000  - 
Cash and bank balances 19 402,397  307,906 
Trade and other receivables 14 126,280  207,094 
Amounts due from related parties 26 65,019  83,664 
Inventories  40,197  19,369 
Advances paid  35,609  28,034 

      
Total current assets  1,094,502  646,067 

      
Total assets  2,679,921  2,043,202 

     
Equity     
Charter capital 15 175,800  172,091 
Additional paid-in capital  11,439  11,439 
Retained earnings  988,144  175,804 
Revaluation reserves 23 266,999  266,999 

      
Total equity  1,442,382  626,333 

      
Non-current liabilities     
Lease liabilities 17 479,089  538,835 
Loans and borrowings 18 251,197  248,112 
Deferred tax liabilities 11 70,624  71,914 
Provisions 21 31,489  31,047 

      
Total non-current liabilities  832,399  889,908 

      
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 16 186,364  169,845 
Lease liabilities 17 120,062  88,342 
Current income tax liabilities  45,775  185,408 
Loans and borrowings 18 33,097  17,347 
Amounts due to related parties 26 12,468  55,427 
Advances from customers  7,170  10,274 
Other liabilities  204  318 

      
Total current liabilities  405,140  526,961 

      
Total equity and liabilities  2,679,921  2,043,202 

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  



 

 9 

“SILK WAY WEST AIRLINES” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 
 

 Notes Charter capital 

 

Additional 
paid-in capital 

 

Revaluation 
reserve 

 Retained 
earnings / 

(accumulated 
deficit)  Total equity  

            
Balance at 1 January 2021  123,279  11,439  234,356  (31,579)  337,495 

            
Increase in charter capital 15 48,812  -  -  -  48,812 
Dividends paid  -  -  -  (680,204)  (680,204) 
Transfer from retained earnings to 

revaluation reserves 23 -  -  32,643  (32,643)  - 
Net profit for the year  -  -  -  920,230  920,230 

           
Balance at 31 December 2021  172,091  11,439  266,999  175,804  626,333 

 
Increase in charter capital 15 3,709  -  -  -  3,709 
Dividends paid  -  -  -  (127,538)  (127,538) 
Net profit for the year  -  -  -  939,878  939,878 

 
Balance at 31 December 2022  175,800  11,439  266,999  988,144  1,442,382 

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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“SILK WAY WEST AIRLINES” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 

 Note 

Year ended 
31 December  

2022 

 Year ended 
31 December  

2021 

       
Profit before income tax  1,175,241  1,151,461 
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation 12, 13 161,620  159,575 
Finance cost, net 8 50,581  49,557 
Foreign exchange loss, net  11,260  6,610 
Impairment losses / (recoveries) on financial assets, net 14, 26 3,215  (1,977) 
Gain in disposal of property and equipment 9 (4,131)  - 
Gain on lease modification 9 -  (32,085) 
Gain on early termination of lease 9 -  (31,304) 

      
Operating cash flow before movements in working capital  1,397,786  1,301,837 

      
Change in trade and other receivables  (376,374)   (258,295) 
Change in amount due from related parties  (232,364)   (413,404) 
Change in inventories  (20,828)   (13,218) 
Change in advances paid  (7,575)   (11,689) 
Change in other long-term assets  (138)  (3,846) 
Change in trade and other payables  495,505   465,111  
Change in amounts due to related parties  25,623   143,704  
Change in advances from customers  (3,104)   4,788  
Change in other liabilities  (114)   (1,818) 

      
Cash generated by operating activities  1,278,417  1,213,170 
     
Income tax paid   (237,965)  (35,320)  
Interest paid   (37,117)  (44,122) 
     
Net cash generated by operating activities  1,003,335  1,133,728 

      
Investing activities     
Bank deposit placement 20 (425,000)  - 
Advance payments for aircraft purchase 22  (160,874)   (96,714) 
Payments for property and equipment purchases and overhauls   (61,507)   (41,536) 
Advance payments for maintenance reserve and aircraft repair services   (41,345)   (39,510) 
Advance payments for engine purchase 22  (21,900)  - 
Security deposit payments   (1,317)   (2,556) 
Payments for right-of-use asset overhauls   -      (12,823) 
Cash held as collateral 19 -  (20,400) 

      
Net cash used in investing activities  (711,943)  (213,539) 

 
 
 
 
 



“SILK WAY WEST AIRLINES” LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 
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 Note 

Year ended 
31 December  

2022 

 Year ended 
31 December  

2021 

      
Financing activities     
Dividends paid  15 (127,538)  (680,204) 
Principal payments on lease liabilities 18 (85,230)  (113,922) 
Principal payments on loans and borrowings 18 (53,369)  (103,124) 
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 18 72,051  71,400 
Increase in charter capital 15 -  19,468 
      
Net cash used in financing activities  (194,086)  (806,382) 

      
Net change in cash and bank balances  97,306  113,807 

      
Foreign currency effect on cash  (2,815)  (2,167) 

      
Cash and bank balances, beginning of the year 19 307,906  196,266 

      
Cash and bank balances, end of the year 19 402,397  307,906 

 
 
Following non-cash transactions were not included in consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2022 
and 31 December 2021:  
 
(a) Recognition of right-of-use assets of AZN 42,265 thousand through lease liabilities (2021: AZN 56,815 thousand) (Note 

17); 
(b) Charter capital increase of AZN 3,709 thousand through capital contribution in a form of property and equipment (2021: 

AZN 29,344 thousand) (Note 15); 
(c) Capitalisation of AZN 9,364 thousand for overhaul of an engine by transfer from other long-term assets (advance 

payments for aircraft repair service providers under power-by-hour (PBH)) (2021: AZN 9,364 thousand); 
(d) Transfer of right-of-use assets of AZN 13,470 thousand to property and equipment upon purchase of a previously leased 

aircraft (2021: Transfer of right-of-use asset of AZN 19,531 thousand to property and equipment and derecognition of 
provision against right-of-use asset of AZN 7,096 thousand upon purchase of a previously leased aircraft) (Note 9, 12 and 
13). 

(e) Offset of security deposit of AZN 2,125 thousand (2021: AZN 2,125 thousand) and refundable contributions to 
maintenance reserve of AZN 26,165 thousand (2021: AZN 16,427 thousand) with amount payable upon purchase of 
previously leased aircraft (Note 9);  

(f) Offset of amount due from related parties and trade and other receivables of AZN 47,448 thousand (2021: AZN 61,014 
thousand); 

(g) Offset of amount due from related parties and trade and other payables of AZN 248,957 thousand (2021: AZN 282,523 
thousand); 

(h) Offset of amount due from related parties and amount due to related parties of AZN 48,163 thousand (2021: AZN 171,605 
thousand); 

(i) Offset of trade and other receivables with trade and other payables of AZN 237,215 thousand (2021: AZN 146,132 
thousand); 

(j) Offset of trade and other receivables with amount due to related parties of AZN 20,081 thousand (2021: AZN 446 
thousand); 

(k) Offset of trade and other receivable with current income tax liabilities of AZN 138,321 thousand (2021: AZN 20,732 
thousand); 

(l) Transfer from investment property to property and equipment of AZN 67,915 thousand in 2021; 
(m) Adjustments made to right-of-use asset due to derecognition of lease liability and maintenance provision of  

AZN 16,264 thousand and AZN 4,654 thousand, respectively, upon modification of a lease contract (Note 9 and 13) in 
2021; and 

(n) Reclassification of advance payment on behalf of the Parent for PBH to amounts due from related parties of  
AZN 10,931 thousand in 2021. 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 



SILK WAY WEST AIRLINES LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED) 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 
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1. NATURE OF ACTIVITIES 
 
“Silk Way West Airlines” Limited Liability Company (the “Company”) is a legal entity registered by 
the State Tax Service under the Ministry of Economy of the Republic of Azerbaijan on 19 January 
2012. The registered office of the Company is at Heydar Aliyev International Airport, Baku, the 
Republic of Azerbaijan. 
 
The principal activity of the Company is the provision of transportation services through scheduled 
routes and chartered trips through Europe, Asia and America from central hub located in Heydar 
Aliyev Airport, Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan. The Company provides transportation services in 
the global market through its representative offices and branches located in different regions of the 
world. Representative offices and branches through which transportation services are provided as 
of 31 December 2022 and 2021 are listed below: 
 

Representative offices and branches  Place of operation 

    
Silk Way Zhengzhou  China 

Silk Way Seoul  Korea 
Silk Way Shanghai  China 

Silk Way Tokyo  Japan 
Silk Way Alma-Ata  Kazakhstan 

Silk Way Tbilisi  Georgia 
Silk Way West Ukraine  Ukraine 
Silk Way Tianjin Binhai  China 

Silk Way Singapore   Singapore 

 
 
The Company has a branch located in Azerbaijan, Silk Way West Technics that provides technical 
maintenance services to aircraft. 
 
The Company, representative offices and branches are consolidated in the financial statements and 
collectively referred as the “Group”. 
 
The Group is 100% owned by Silk Way Airlines Limited Liability Company (the “Parent”) 
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. The ultimate parent of the Group is Silk Way Development 
Limited Liability Company and ultimate controlling party is Mr. Zaur Akhundov. 
 
 

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS 
 
New and amended IFRS Accounting Standards that are effective for the current year 
 
There were no new and amended standards that are effective which could materially impact the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

  



SILK WAY WEST AIRLINES LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED) 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 
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New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective 
 
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not applied 
amendments to the following IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective: 
 
Standards Effective date 
IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts (including the June 2020 and December 2021 Amendments 
to IFRS 17) - Insurance Contracts  

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture 

To be set by the Board 

IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2023 
IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023 
IAS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023 
IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 1 January 2023 

 
 
Management do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material 
impact on the financial statements of the Group in future periods, except as noted below: 
 
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes—Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from 
a Single Transaction 
 
The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption to exclude transactions that 
give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences- e.g. leases. The amendments apply for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. For leases and decommissioning 
liabilities, the associated deferred tax asset and liabilities will need to be recognized from the 
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recognized as 
an adjustment to retained earnings or other components of the equity at that date. For all other 
transactions, the amendments apply to transactions that occur after the beginning of the earliest 
period presented. 
 
The Group accounts for deferred tax on leases applying the “integrally linked” approach, resulting 
in similar outcome to the amendments, except that the deferred tax asset or liability is recognized 
on a net basis. Under the amendments, the Group will recognize a separate deferred tax asset and 
a deferred tax liability. The impact on taxable temporary difference in relation to the right-of-use 
asset will be AZN 89,976 thousand and a deductible temporary difference in relation to the lease 
liability and maintenance provision will be AZN 70,622 thousand and AZN 4,549 thousand, 
respectively, resulting in a net deferred tax liability of AZN 14,765 thousand as at 31 December 
2022. There will be no impact on retained earnings on adoption of the amendments.  
   
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of accounting 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and comply with all issued and effective IFRSs at the time of 
preparing these consolidated financial statements.  

  



SILK WAY WEST AIRLINES LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED) 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 
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These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
revaluation of aircraft and related overhauls that are measured at revalued amounts at the end of 
each reporting period as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally 
based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.  
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of 
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. 
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics 
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when 
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for 
leasing transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some 
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories. 
 
The same accounting policies, presentation and methods of computation have been followed the year 
ended 31 December 2022 as were applied in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. 
 
Going concern 
 
Management have, at the time of approving the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable 
expectation that the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
The national currency of Azerbaijan is the Azerbaijani Manat (“AZN”), which is the Group’s functional 
currency, because it reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances 
of the Group. Azerbaijani Manat is also the presentation currency for these consolidated financial 
statements. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand AZN, except when otherwise indicated. 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the Group’s 
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried 
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing 
at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences on monetary 
items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 
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The relevant exchange rates are as follows: 
 
 31 December  

2022 
 31 December  

2021 

    
AZN / USD 1.7000  1.7000 
AZN / EUR 1.8114  1.9265 

 
 

Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a 
contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group 
recognises revenue when it transfers control of a service to a customer. 
 
Transportation revenue 
 
Revenue from transportation services includes sales generated from the transportation of goods 
through scheduled and chartered flights and is recognised when the air transportation is provided.  
 
Technical maintenance and repair revenue 
 
Revenue from maintenance services is recognised in the period in which the services are rendered. 
 
Operating lease rental income 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised when earned, on a time apportionment basis.  
 
Leases 
 
The Group as lessee 
 
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. 
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all 
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases and leases of low value 
assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative 
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. 
 
The incremental borrowing rate depends on the term, currency and start date of the lease and is 
determined based on a series of inputs including: the risk-free rate based on government bond 
rates; a country-specific risk adjustment; a credit risk adjustment based on bond yields.  
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Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 
 

 Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives 
receivable; 

 Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate at the commencement date; and 

 Fixed or in-substance fixed payments to the maintenance reserve, that are not expected to be 
refunded in cash by lessor. 

 
The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on 
the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to 
reflect the lease payments made. 
 
The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related 
right-of-use asset) whenever: 
 

 The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting 
in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability 
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

 The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected 
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease 
payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount 
rate is used). 

 A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, 
in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the 
modification. 

 
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 
payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received, non-
refundable maintenance contributions and any initial direct costs. Leased aircraft are subsequently 
measured at revalued amounts whereas remaining right-of-use asset classes are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
The Group recognises maintenance provisions related to return obligations constituting major 
maintenance and restoration work, airframe and engine potential reconstitution within the 
framework of the leasing of aircraft. These costs are included in the related right-of-use asset. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the 
right-of-use asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-
use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at 
the commencement date of the lease. 
 
The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. 
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Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the 
lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the 
line “Aircraft and engine lease costs” in profit or loss. 
 
The Group as lessor 
 
The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to its aircraft rented out. 
 
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever 
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, 
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. 
 
Finance cost 
 
Finance cost comprise interest expense on loans and borrowings and lease liabilities. All finance 
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Employee benefit obligations 
 
Remuneration to employees in respect of services rendered during the reporting period, including 
accruals for unused vacation and bonuses and related social payments, is recognised as an expense 
in the period when it is earned.  
 
In accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan, pension payments are calculated 
by an employer as certain percentages of salary expenses and transferred to the State Social 
Protection Fund of the Republic of Azerbaijan. This expense is charged to profit or loss in the period in 
which the related salaries are earned. Upon retirement, all retirement benefit payments are made 
by the fund. The Group does not have any pension arrangements separate from the state pension 
system of the Republic of Azerbaijan. In addition, the Group has no post-retirement benefits or 
other significant compensated benefits requiring accrual. 
 
Taxation 
 
Income tax expense represents the sum of current income and deferred tax charges. 
 
Current tax 
 
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because 
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further 
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date at the end of the reporting period. 
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A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is 
considered probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions 
are measured at the best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is 
based on the judgement of tax professionals within the Group supported by previous experience in 
respect of such activities and in certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice. 
 
Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in 
the computation of taxable profit. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of 
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount 
of its assets and liabilities. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities 
on a net basis. 
 
Current tax and deferred tax for the year 
 
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and 
deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.  
 
Operating taxes 
 
Azerbaijan also has various other taxes (such as property tax, social tax and withholding tax), which 
are assessed on the Group’s activities. These taxes are included as a component of operating 
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Accounting for payments made to aircraft repair service providers under power-by-hour 
agreements 
 
As part of aircraft maintenance and overhaul (major maintenance) expenditure, the Group enters 
into power-by-hour (“PBH”) agreement for engine maintenance with original equipment 
manufacturers of aircraft engines. The monthly payments are based on the number of flight hours 
multiplied by fixed rate per hour and rate per flight hour is escalated on an annual basis in 
accordance with PBH agreement. Monthly payments made are partially recorded as an advance 
payment, to the extent that it is to be utilised through future overhaul and partially is expensed-off 
as part of daily maintenance expenses.  
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Upon completion of an overhaul during the year, part of advanced payments is capitalised over 
aircraft. The proportion of the amount to be expensed-off and capitalised is determined based on 
the best estimate of the proportion of day-to-day maintenance compared to that, which extends 
the useful lives of the engines.  
 
Property and equipment 
 
Items of property and equipment held for use in the supply of services, or for administrative 
purposes, except aircraft and related overhauls are stated in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes 
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  
 
Aircraft and related overhauls are carried at a revalued amount, being its fair value at the date of 
the revaluation less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Revaluation is performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amounts do not 
differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of each reporting 
period. 
 
Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such aircraft is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a 
revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case 
the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A 
decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such aircraft is recognised in profit or 
loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the aircraft revaluation reserves 
relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.  
 
Depreciation on revalued aircraft is recognised in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or 
retirement of a revalued aircraft, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the revaluation 
reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. 
 
When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. The cost relating to an 
acquired (owned or leased) aircraft reflects all components in its full service potential excluding the 
maintenance condition of its landing gear, airframe, auxiliary power unit and engines (major 
components). The cost relating to the major maintenance element is identified on acquisition as a 
separate component and depreciated till its next major maintenance event. 
 
Major spare parts and stand-by equipment are classified as property and equipment when 
the Group expects to use them during more than one period. Similarly, if the spare parts and 
servicing equipment can be used only in connection with an item of property and equipment, 
they are accounted for as property and equipment.  
 
The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will 
flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. Capitalised costs include major 
expenditures for improvements and replacements that extend the useful lives of the assets or 
increase their revenue generating capacity. Repairs and maintenance expenditures that do not 
meet the foregoing criteria for capitalization are charged to the profit or loss as incurred. 
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Depreciation 
 
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values 
over their useful lives, using the straight-line method on the following bases:  
 
Category Useful life  Residual value 

    
Aircraft and related overhauls    
  Airframe  25 years  10% of cost 
  Overhauls and checks 8-10 years, 10,000 hours  nil 
Engines and related overhauls    
  Engine 25 years  nil 
  Overhaul component of engines 2,800-3,500 cycles  nil 
Building and infrastructure 25 years  nil 
Others 5-10 years  nil 

 
 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective 
basis. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of the lease term and the useful life of the 
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use 
asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is 
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. 
 
An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on 
the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Aircraft and engines 
 
Aircraft and engines are depreciated using the straight-line method over their average estimated 
useful life of twenty five years. During the operating cycle, the Group reviews whether the 
depreciable base or the useful life should be adjusted and, if necessary, determines whether a 
residual value should be recognised. 
 
Major overhauls  
 
Overhauls of major components and related expenditure are capitalised and depreciated over 
the average expected life between major overhauls based on flight hours and cycles. All other costs 
relating to maintenance of an aircraft are charged to the profit or loss upon consumption or 
as incurred. 
 
Impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any).  
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Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where 
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated 
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest Group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease and to the extent that the impairment loss is greater than the related 
revaluation reserves, the excess impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior 
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to the extent that 
it eliminates the impairment loss which has been recognised for the asset in prior years. Any increase 
in excess of this amount is treated as a revaluation increase. 
 
Advances paid 
 
Advance payments are carried at cost less impairment losses. An advance payment is classified 
as non-current when the goods or services relating to the advance payment are expected to be 
obtained after one year, or when the advance payment relates to an asset which will itself be 
classified as non-current upon initial recognition. Advance payment to acquire assets are transferred 
to the carrying amount of the asset once the Group has obtained control of the asset and it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group. If there is 
an indication that the assets, goods or services relating to an advance payment will not be received, 
the carrying value of the advance payment is written down accordingly and a corresponding 
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss for the period. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials 
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted 
average cost method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated 
costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. 
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Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where effect of the time value 
of money is material). 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
 
Maintenance provisions 
 
Maintenance provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to their original condition, as required 
by the terms and conditions of the lease, are recognised when the obligation is incurred, either at 
the commencement date or as a consequence of having used the underlying asset during a 
particular period of the lease, at management’s best estimate of the expenditure that would be 
required to restore the assets. Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted as appropriate for 
new circumstances. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to 
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition.  
 
For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and 
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described 
as follows:  
 

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date; 

 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
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Financial assets 
 
All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of 
a financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within 
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus 
transaction costs.  
 
All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently 
measured at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the Group’s business model for managing 
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 
 
Amortised cost and effective interest method 
 
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at 
initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the 
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, 
adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost 
of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
 
Cash and bank balances 
 
Cash and bank balances comprise of bank balances and cash in transit. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are 
measured at amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date 
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument. 
 
The Group always recognises lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) for trade receivables. The credit 
losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions, credit ratings and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of 
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. 
 
For other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for 
that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. 
 
Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events 
over the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 
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(i) Significant increase in credit risk  
 
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort.  
 
Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which 
the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, 
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organizations, as well as consideration 
of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s 
core operations.  
 
In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition:  
 

 An actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) 
or internal credit rating; 

 Significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial 
instrument, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for 
the debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has 
been less than its amortised cost; 

 Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;  

 An actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 

 Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and 

 An actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet 
its debt obligations. 

 
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are 
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise. 
 
Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low 
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if: 
 
1. The financial instrument has a low risk of default,  
2. The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near 

term, and  
3. Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not 

necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.  
  



SILK WAY WEST AIRLINES LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED) 
(in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats) 

 

 25 

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit 
rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external 
rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the 
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.  
 
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are 
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due. 
 
(ii) Definition of default  
 
If historical experience indicates that financial assets, for which information developed internally or 
obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including 
the Group, in full, the Group considers this as an event of default for internal risk management 
purposes. 
 
Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial 
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information 
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate. 
 
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets  
 
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events: 
 
(a) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 
(b) A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above); 
(c) The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would 
not otherwise consider; 

(d) It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization; or 

(e) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties. 
 
It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event instead; the combined effect of several 
events may have caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. 
 
(iv) Write-off policy 
 
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has 
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade 
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial 
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery 
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Recoveries resulting from 
the Group’s enforcement activities will result in impairment gains and recognised in profit or loss. 
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(v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses  
 
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given 
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. 
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data 
adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure at default, for 
financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date. 
 
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  
 
If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the 
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount 
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified 
approach was used. 
 
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a 
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.  
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire; or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to 
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises 
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised 
in profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Classification as debt or equity 
 
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or 
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of 
a financial liability and an equity instrument. 
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Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities (other than financial guarantee), including trade and other payables are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Financial liabilities are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on 
an effective yield basis. 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Offsetting 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle 
the liability simultaneously. Income and expense is not offset in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income unless required or permitted by any accounting 
standard or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group. 
 
Dividends 
 
Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity at the reporting date only if they 
are declared before or on the reporting date. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed 
before the reporting date or proposed or declared after the reporting date but before the 
consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue.  
 

 
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

 
In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is required 
to make judgements (other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the 
amounts recognized, and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods. 
 
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are 
presented separately below) that management has made in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
consolidated financial statements. 
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Critical judgments in applying accounting policies  
 
Transactions with general sales agents 
 
In normal course of business, the Group sells air cargo transportation services through general sales 
agents. Certain portion of Group’s air cargo transportation services (2022: AZN 731,322       
thousand and 2021: AZN 667,592 thousand) are sold through related parties under common 
control, who act as general sales agents. Critical judgement is applied by management in 
considering whether general sales agents act as agents or principals in relation to the services 
provided to final customers.  
 
Management considers whether agent has performance obligation to provide services to the 
customer or whether the agent’s obligation is to facilitate the services provided by the Group. 
Group management assessed and concluded that the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the 
promise to provide the service and it has discretion in establishing the price for the air cargo 
transportation service, even though agents bear credit risks associated with payments from final 
customers. Consequently, all revenue is recognised at gross amount from final customer and 
commission paid to agents is recognized as operating expense. 
 
Leases 
 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception date and whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on 
the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, 
even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.  

 
Agreement to lease engines  
 
The Group signed certain framework lease agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) with one of 
its engine providers. The Framework Agreement contains specified list of engines with the 
maximum flight potential available for lease per each engine until the maturity date of 31 
December 2025. When the Group needs an engine, a separate lease agreement (“Lease 
Agreement”) is signed with reference to the specific engine. The Lease Agreement specifies the 
engine leased (which is from the list in the Framework Agreement), minimum utilization per month 
and fee per cycle. Management concluded the arrangement contains a lease, as 

 Both Lease Agreement and Framework Agreement includes identifiable asset/pool of 
assets; 

 The Group is able to control the use of the engine being leased for the lease period and can 
make economic decisions about the use of the engine; 

 The Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the 
engine during the lease term. 

 
Agreement to lease an aircraft 
 
The Group entered into a lease agreement that does not specify a particular contractual term, but 
continues indefinitely until either party to the contract gives notice to terminate. It includes a 
notice period and does not oblige either party to make a payment on termination.  
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Management considered below facts and circumstances and concluded that non-cancelable period 
could not be determined: 

 No leasehold improvements are undertaken by the Group over the term of the lease 
agreement; 

 No significant costs or termination penalties will be incurred and the Group will be able to 
use and obtain economic benefit from the aircraft during the notice period; 

 There are available alternatives in the market that could be found during the notice period;  

 The Group’s historical practice with the lease agreements containing option to extend. 
 

Aircraft and related overhauls revaluation 
 
Management assessed whether revaluation of aircraft and related overhauls is required in the 
current year. As a result of the assessment, management concluded that there had been no 
significant changes observed in the market since 31 December 2021 and the last revaluation date of 
31 December 2020, and the carrying amounts of aircraft approximated their fair values as of 31 
December 2022. Accordingly, no revaluation was conducted as of the reporting date.  
 
Taxation 
 
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group 
recognises liabilities for anticipated additional tax assessments as a result of tax audits based on 
estimates of whether it is probable that additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 
the income tax provisions in the period in which such determinations are made. Fiscal periods remain 
open to review by the tax authorities in respect of taxes for the three calendar years preceding 
the year of tax review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods. While 
the Group believes it has provided adequately for all tax liabilities based on its understanding 
of the tax legislation, the above facts may create additional financial risks for the Group. 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Useful lives of property and equipment 
 
The Group’s property and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over their 
estimated useful lives which are based on management’s business plans and operational estimates. 
When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. 
 
The factors that could affect the estimation of the life of a non-current asset and its residual value 
include the following: 
 

 Changes in maintenance technology; 

 Changes in regulations and legislation; and 

 Unforeseen operational issues. 
 
Any of the above could affect prospective depreciation of property and equipment and their 
carrying and residual values. The estimation of the useful lives of items of property and equipment 
is a matter of judgment based on the Group’s experience with similar assets.  
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The future economic benefits embodied in the assets are consumed principally through use. 
However, other factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence and condition of the assets 
(including operational factors and utilization of maintenance programs), often will result in 
a change of the economic benefit from these assets. 
 
Management periodically reviews the appropriateness of the remaining useful lives of property, 
and equipment. Revisions to estimates of the useful lives of items of property and equipment are 
recognised prospectively in the period of the revision and where applicable, future periods. 
Accordingly, this may impact the amount of depreciation charge and carrying amount of property 
and equipment to be recognised in the future. 
 
Residual value of aircraft is based on the estimated future fair value of the aircraft at the end of 
useful life and changes in these estimations may have significant effect on results for the periods. 
 
Aircraft maintenance and overhaul expenditure under power-by-hour agreements 
 
The Group has entered into several power-by-hour (“PBH”) engine maintenance agreements with 
original equipment manufacturers of aircraft engines. The monthly payments are based on the 
number of hours flown. A portion of the cost is expensed at a fixed rate per hour during the term of 
the PBH agreement. The remaining payments made are recorded as advance payment, to the 
extent that it is to be utilised through future maintenance activities and capitalised upon 
completion of an overhaul. 
 
The proportion of the amount to be expensed off and capitalised is determined based on the best 
estimate of the proportion of day-to-day maintenance compared to maintenance which extends 
the useful lives of the engine.  
 

 
5. REVENUE 

 

 

Year ended 
31 December  

2022  

Year ended 
31 December  

2021 
    
Transportation revenue 3,155,118  2,797,114 
Technical maintenance and repair revenue 47,670  46,901 
Operating lease rental income 4,003  24,440 
Other revenue 18,215  11,118 
    
Total revenue 3,225,006  2,879,573 

 
 
Operating lease rental income consists of rental income generated from the leasing of two Boeing 
aircraft by a related party. 
 
 

6. AIRCRAFT AND ENGINE LEASE COSTS 
 
Group incurred AZN 149,716 thousand (2021: AZN 162,870 thousand) aircraft and engine lease costs 
for the use of several lessors’ aircraft and engines. Major part of the agreements comprise variable 
charges based on actual cycles and hours flown.  
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During 2022, the main lessors from which the Group rented aircraft were its related parties in the 
amount of AZN 96,121 thousand (2021: AZN 138,579 thousand).  
 

 
7. STAFF COSTS 

 

 

Year ended 
31 December  

2022  

Year ended 
31 December  

2021 
    
Salaries and bonuses 72,760  76,959 
Social taxes 11,574  11,887 
    
Total staff costs 84,334  88,846  

 
 

8. FINANCE COST, NET 
 

 

Year ended 
31 December  

2022  

Year ended 
31 December  

2021 
    
Interest on lease liabilities 35,436  36,714 
Interest on loans and borrowings 14,336  12,803 
Other finance costs 1,280  574 
Unwinding of discount related to security deposits (471)  (534) 

    
Finance cost, net 50,581  49,557 

 
 

9. OTHER INCOME, NET 
 

 

Year ended 
31 December  

2022  

Year ended 
31 December  

2021 
    
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 4,131  - 
Other income  8,744  5,745 
Gain on lease modification -  32,085 
Gain on early termination of lease -  31,304 
Other costs -  (2,071) 
    
Total other income, net 12,875  67,063  

 
 
Lease modification 
 
During 2021, the Group revised the term of one of its leases with the intention to purchase the 
aircraft in 2022. As a result of modification, right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability was 
offset and the difference of AZN 1,371 thousand was recognised through profit or loss within other 
income as a gain on lease modification.  
 
The Group paid certain amount of security deposit and maintenance reserve contributions 
(refundable and non-refundable) for the aircraft from the commencement of the lease until the 
date of modification. Of these contributions for maintenance reserve AZN 8,291 thousand were 
considered as non-refundable and expensed to profit and loss in previous periods. As per the 
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agreement terms, total contributions for maintenance reserve will be deducted from the future 
purchase price of the aircraft. As a result, maintenance contributions assessed to be non-
refundable until the modification date were recognised through profit or loss within other income 
as a gain on lease modification.  
 
Maintenance provisions of the aircraft was derecognised against maintenance reserve within right-
of-use asset as of the effective date of modification and a difference of AZN 22,423 thousand was 
charged to other income as a gain on lease modification. 
 
During 2022 the aircraft was purchased and right-of-use asset as of the purchase date of AZN 
13,470 thousand was reclassified to property and equipment and refundable contributions of AZN 
26,165 AZN and security deposit of AZN 2,125 thousand were net-off against the aircraft purchase 
price (Note 13). 
 
Purchase of leased aircraft 
 
During 2021, an aircraft previously leased and recognised as right-of-use asset by the Group was 
purchased before the expiration of the lease. As a result, right-of-use asset as of the purchase date 
of AZN 19,531 thousand was reclassified to property and equipment and the carrying amount of 
the purchased aircraft was adjusted for the difference between purchase price and the lease 
liability of AZN 21,379 thousand.  
  
The Group paid AZN 2,125 thousand as security deposit and AZN 16,427 thousand as total 
contributions for maintenance reserve for the purchased aircraft from the commencement of the 
lease until the date of the purchase. Of these contributions for maintenance reserve  
AZN 3,968 thousand was considered as non-refundable and expensed to profit and loss in prior 
periods. As per the agreement terms, total contributions for maintenance reserve were deducted 
from the purchase price of the aircraft. As a result, maintenance contributions assessed to be non-
refundable until the transaction date were recognised through profit or loss within other income as 
a gain on early termination of lease. 
 
Maintenance provisions of the aircraft was derecognised against maintenance reserve within right-
of-use asset as of purchase date and a difference of AZN 27,336 thousand was charged to other 
income as a gain on early termination of lease. 
 
 

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 

 

Year ended 
31 December  

2022  

Year ended 
31 December  

2021 
    
Current income tax expense 236,653   222,641 
Deferred tax (income) / expense (1,290)  6,191  
Adjustments in respect of prior years -   2,399 
    
Total income tax expense 235,363  231,231  
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The income tax expense for the year calculated at statutory income tax rate of 20% can be 
reconciled to the accounting profit as follows: 
 

 

Year ended 
31 December  

2022  

Year ended 
31 December  

2021 
    
Profit before income tax 1,175,241  1,151,461 
    
Income tax expense at statutory tax rate (20%) 235,048  230,292  
Effect of non-deductible expenses 315  939 

    
Total income tax expense 235,363  231,231  

 
 

11. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income 
tax purposes. The tax effect on the major temporary differences that give rise to the deferred 
liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is presented below: 
 
Movement in temporary differences during the year 
 

 1 January 2022  
Recognised 

 in profit or loss  31 December 2022 

      

Right-of-use assets  7,332    3,431    10,763  
Property and equipment  25,116    884    26,000  
Advances paid  18,275    (43)   18,232  
Security deposits  (327)   116    (211) 
Trade and other receivables  (4,367)   1,383    (2,984) 
Other assets  2,331    (2,204)   127  
Lease liabilities  17,824    1,939    19,763  
Provisions  (1,661)   (88)   (1,749) 
Trade and other payables  7,386    (6,593)   793  
Other liabilities  5    (115)   (110) 
      

Total 71,914  (1,290)  70,624 

 
 

 
 

 
1 January 

2021  
Recognised 

in profit or loss  Reclassification  
31 December 

2021 
        

Right-of-use assets 2,421  4,911  -  7,332 
Property and equipment 41,843  (13,201)  (3,526)  25,116 
Advances paid 13,217  5,058  -  18,275 
Security deposits 62  (389)  -  (327) 
Investment property (3,526)  -  3,526  - 
Trade and other receivables (2,373)  (1,994)  -  (4,367) 
Other assets (227)  2,558  -  2,331 
Lease liabilities 11,044  6,780  -  17,824 
Provisions (1,606)  (55)  -  (1,661) 
Trade and other payables 4,716  2,670  -  7,386 
Other liabilities 152  (147)  -  5 
        

Total 65,723  6,191  -  71,914 
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12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 
* Engines with carrying amount of AZN 57,482 thousand and 54,431 thousand as at 31 December 2021 and    
1 January 2021, respectively, was presented within “Other” class of assets in prior year consolidated financial 
statements. 

 
The Group’s aircraft and related overhauls included in property and equipment and right-of-use 
assets were revalued as of 31 December 2020. Management assessed and concluded that carrying 
amount of aircraft as of 31 December 2022 and as of 31 December 2021, being the fair value at the 
date of revaluation (31 December 2020) less any subsequent accumulated depreciation, 
approximates their fair value, as there were no significant changes observed in the market and as a 
result, revaluation had not been performed for the current year.  

 

Aircraft and 
related 

overhauls  Buildings   Engines*  Other  Total 

Cost or valuation          

Balance at 1 January 2021 101,010  -  71,351  4,474  176,835 

          
Transfer from investment property 67,915  -  -  -  67,915 
Transfer from right-of-use assets  19,531  -  6,610  -  26,141 
Additions 48,992  29,344  7,657  3,439  89,432 

          
Balance at 31 December 2021 237,448  29,344  85,618  7,913  360,323 

          
Transfer from right-of-use assets 13,470  -  2,751  -  16,221 
Additions 82,849  -  13,293  5,748  101,890 

          
Balance at 31 December 2022 333,767  29,344  101,662  13,661  478,434 

          
Accumulated depreciation          
Balance at 1 January 2021 (2,062)  -  (16,920)  (806)  (19,788) 

          
Depreciation charge for the year (29,336)  (798)  (11,216)  (1,109)  (42,459) 

          
Balance at 31 December 2021 (31,398)  (798)  (28,136)  (1,915)  (62,247) 

          
Depreciation charge for the year (45,664)  (1,915)  (11,508)  (1,508)  (60,595) 

          
Balance at 31 December 2022 (77,062)  (2,713)  (39,644)  (3,423)  (122,842) 

          
          
Net book value          
At 31 December 2022 256,705  26,631  62,018  10,238  355,592 

          
At 31 December 2021 206,050  28,546  57,482  5,998  298,076 

          
At 1 January 2021  98,948    -    54,431    3,668    157,047  

          
Net book value if no revaluation took place         
At 31 December 2022 244,460  26,631  62,018  10,238  343,347 

          
At 31 December 2021 190,024  28,546  57,482  5,998  282,050 

          
At 1 January 2021  99,022  

 
 -  

 
 54,431    3,668    157,121  
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During 2022, an aircraft previously leased and recognised as right-of-use asset by the Group was 
purchased before the expiration of the lease. As a result, right-of-use asset with a carrying value of 
AZN 13,470 thousand as of purchase date was reclassified to property and equipment. 
 
During 2021, an aircraft previously leased and recognised as right-of-use asset by the Group was 
purchased before the expiration of the lease. As a result, right-of-use asset with a carrying value of 
AZN 19,531 thousand as of purchase date was reclassified to property and equipment and the 
carrying amount of the purchased aircraft was adjusted by the difference between purchase price 
and the lease liability of AZN 21,379 thousand (Note 9). 
 
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, property and equipment totaling AZN 53,848 thousand and  
AZN 64,685 thousand, respectively, were pledged as collateral on loans and borrowings obtained by 
the Group. As at 31 December 2022, AZN 89,673 thousand of property and equipment were 
pledged under the loans obtained by the Parent (2021: AZN 99,107 thousand). 
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13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 
 

 
Aircraft and 

related overhauls 
 

Engines*  Other  Total 

Cost or valuation        
Balance at 1 January 2021 993,961  44,818  -  1,038,779 
        
Additions 22,187  56,815  -  79,002 
Fully depreciated overhaul write-off (1,360)  -  -  (1,360) 
Decrease upon modification of lease (39,013)  -  -  (39,013) 
Transfer to property and equipment (38,119)  (9,405)  -  (47,524) 
Decrease upon termination of lease (29,188)  -  -  (29,188) 
        
Balance at 31 December 2021 908,468  92,228  -  1,000,696 
        
Additions 7,382  52,131  2,559  62,072 
Fully depreciated overhaul write-off   (9,054)  -  (9,054) 
Transfer to property and equipment (34,539)  (4,348)  -  (38,887) 
Derecognition at the end of lease term -  (1,982)  -  (1,982) 

        
Balance at 31 December 2022 881,311  128,975  2,559  1,012,845 

        
Accumulated depreciation        
Balance at 1 January 2021 (74,034)  (10,553)  -  (84,587) 
        
Depreciation charge for the year (105,109)  (12,007)  -  (117,116) 
Fully depreciated overhaul write-off 1,360  -  -  1,360 
Decrease upon modification of lease 18,095  -  -  18,095 
Transfer to property and equipment 18,588  2,795  -  21,383 
Decrease upon termination of lease 22,092  -  -  22,092 
 

       
Balance at 31 December 2021 (119,008)  (19,765)  -  (138,773) 
 

       
Depreciation charge for the year (78,644)  (22,150)  (231)  (101,025) 
Fully depreciated overhaul write-off -  9,054   -  9,054 
Transfer to property and equipment 21,069  1,597  -  22,666 
Derecognition at the end of lease term -  1,982  -  1,982 

        
Balance at 31 December 2022 (176,583)  (29,282)  (231)  (206,096) 

        
        
Net book value        
At 31 December 2022 704,728  99,693  2,328  806,749 

        
At 31 December 2021 789,460  72,463  -  861,923 
 

       
At 1 January 2021              919,927              34,265                       -               954,192  
 

       
Net book value if no revaluation took place       
At 31 December 2022 520,433  99,693  2,328  622,454 

        
At 31 December 2021 596,398  72,463  -  668,861 
 

       
At 1 January 2021              712,071              34,265                       -               746,336  

 
* Engines with carrying amount of AZN 72,463 thousand and 34,265 thousand as at 31 December 2021 and 1 
January 2021, respectively, was presented within “Other” class of assets in prior year consolidated financial 
statements. 

 
The Group leases several aircraft and engines. The average remaining lease term is six years 
(2021: seven years). 
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No revaluation was performed for aircraft and related overhauls as of 31 December 2022 (Note 12). 
 
The Group has options to purchase certain aircraft for a nominal amount at the end of the lease 
term. The Group’s obligations are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets for such leases. 
One of the lease agreements in addition to being secured by the title to the leased asset, is also 
secured by property and equipment with a carrying amount of AZN 20,105 thousand  
as of 31 December 2022 (2021: AZN 20,952 thousand). 
 
An aircraft previously leased and recognised as a right-of-use asset by the Group was purchased 
before the expiration of the lease. As a result, the right-of-use asset with a carrying value of  
AZN 13,470 thousand (2021: 19,531 thousand) as of the purchase date was reclassified to property 
and equipment (Note 9 and 12). 
 
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is presented in Note 17. 
 

 
Year ended 

31 December  
2022  

Year ended 
31 December  

2021 
    
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets (101,025)  (117,116) 
Interest expense on lease liabilities (35,436)  (36,714) 
Unwinding of discount related to provision (442)  (277) 
Expense relating to short-term leases (4,685)  (6,012) 
Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement 

of the lease liabilities (145,031)  (156,858) 

    
Total amount recognised in profit or loss (286,619)  (316,977) 

 
 
The total cash outflow for leases amount to AZN 265,607 thousand (2021: AZN 198,741 thousand). 
 
 

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

 31 December  
2022  

31 December  
2021 

    
Trade receivables 114,222  184,150 
Other receivables* 11,482  22,082 
VAT recoverable 6,565  4,973 
Less: expected credit losses (5,989)  (4,111) 

    
Total trade and other receivables 126,280  207,094 

 
* Other receivables with carrying amount of AZN 22,082 thousand as at 31 December 2021 was presented 
within “Trade receivables” in prior year consolidated financial statements. 
 
The average credit period on sales of services is 30 days (2021: 30 days). No interest is charged on 
outstanding trade receivables. 
 
The Group has considered a probability of default of 100 per cent against all receivables over 90 
days past due because historical experience has indicated that these receivables are generally not 
recoverable. 
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There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 
current reporting period. 
 
The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables based on the Group’s provision 
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss 
patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status 
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer segments. 
 
 Trade and other receivables – days past due 

31 December 2022 Not past 
due 

 <30  31-60  61-90  91-120  >120  Total 

              
Expected credit loss rate 0.76%  1.34%  11.77%  18.24%  22.86%  71.51%  4.76% 
Estimated total gross carrying 

amount at default  97,520    19,392   1,912    170    140    6,570    125,704  
Lifetime ECL  (744)   (259)   (225)   (31)   (32)   (4,698)   (5,989) 

              
             119,715 

 
 Trade and other receivables – days past due 

31 December 2021 Not past 
due 

 <30  31-60  61-90  91-120  >120  Total 

              
Expected credit loss rate 0.85%  0.65%  3.65%  7.98%  9.62%  10.61%  1.99% 
Estimated total gross carrying 

amount at default 159,394  20,535  2,222  426  260  23,395  206,232 
Lifetime ECL (1,356)  (133)  (81)  (34)  (25)  (2,482)  (4,111) 

              
             202,121 

 
 
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade 
receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set out in IFRS 9. 
 

 2022  2021 
 

   
Balance as at 1 January 4,111  4,900 
    
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 4,131  (1,903) 
Amount recovered (2,839)  (2,824) 
Change in loss allowance due to new trade and other receivables originated 

net of those derecognised due to settlement 586 
 

3,938 

    
Balance as at 31 December 5,989  4,111 

 
 
The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 24. 
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15. CHARTER CAPITAL 
 
In accordance with the charter, the Company’s charter capital constitutes AZN 175,800 thousand 
(2021: AZN 172,091 thousand) comprised of 175,799,832 participation interest  
(2021: 172,091,168 participation interest) with par value of AZN 1. 
 
During 2022, AZN 3,709 thousand equity was contributed by the shareholder in the form of 
property and equipment (2021: AZN 29,344 thousand in the form of property and equipment and 
AZN 19,468 thousand in the form of cash). 
 
AZN 127,538 thousand dividends (inclusive of 10% withholding tax) were declared and 
paid during 2022 (2021: AZN 680,204 thousand). 
 
 

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

 
31 December  

2022 
 31 December  

2021 

    
Trade payables 164,462  161,600  
Tax payables 13,519  - 
Other payables* 8,383  8,245 

    
Total trade and other payables 186,364  169,845 

 
* Other receivables with carrying amount of AZN 8,245 thousand as at 31 December 2021 was presented 
within “Trade payables” in prior year consolidated financial statements. 
 
The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed 
in Note 24. 
 
The Group may enter into sales and purchase agreements with the same counterparty in the 
normal course of business. The following table sets out the carrying amounts of recognised financial 
instruments that are subject to the above agreements. 
 
31 December 2022    

 
Trade and other 

receivables  
Trade and other 

payables 

    
Gross amounts 249,318  309,402  
Amounts offset in accordance with IAS 32 offsetting criteria (123,038)  (123,038) 
Net amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position 126,280  186,364 
Amounts related to recognised financial instruments that do not meet some or 

all of the offsetting criteria (12,571)  (12,751) 

    
Net amounts 113,709  173,793 
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31 December 2021    

 
Trade and other 

receivables  
Trade and other 

payables 

    
Gross amounts 293,841  256,592 
Amounts offset in accordance with IAS 32 offsetting criteria (86,747)  (86,747) 
Net amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position 207,094  169,845 
Amounts related to recognised financial instruments that do not meet some or 

all of the offsetting criteria (23,195)  (23,195) 

    
Net amounts 183,899  146,650 

 
 
17. LEASE LIABILITIES 

 

 

31 December  
2022 

 
31 December  

2021 
    
Lease liabilities  606,416    645,665 
Accrued interest on lease liabilities  8,338    315  
Deferred transaction cost  (15,603)  (18,803)  
    
Total lease liabilities 599,151  627,177 

    
Lease liabilities, non-current portion 479,089  538,835  
Lease liabilities, current portion 120,062  88,342 

    
Total lease liabilities 599,151  627,177 

 
 
Reconciliation of future lease payments and their present values at the end of reporting period: 
 
31 December 2022 

 Year 1  Year 2  Year 3  Year 4  Year 5  Onwards  Total 
              
Lease payments  157,471    136,143    133,879    95,873    57,853    158,803    740,022  
Unearned finance charges  (37,409)   (31,587)   (25,485)   (18,637)   (11,619)   (16,134)   (140,871) 

              
Present value of minimum 

lease payments  120,062    104,556    108,394    77,236    46,234    142,669    599,151  

 
31 December 2021 

 Year 1  Year 2  Year 3  Year 4  Year 5  Onwards  Total 
              
Lease payments  119,588   118,243    117,318    117,612    93,869    213,114    779,744 
Unearned finance charges  (31,246)   (28,972)   (25,669)   (22,136)   (17,649)   (26,895)   (152,567) 

              
Present value of minimum 

lease payments 88,342  89,271  91,649  95,476  76,220  186,219  627,177 
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All lease arrangements are denominated in USD and classified per maturity and rate terms: 
 
   31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

Group Maturity  Rate, %  Amount  Rate, %  Amount 

          
 Group A  2031  7.00%   186,712   7.00%         201,951  
 Group B  2029  6.70%   175,290   6.70%         171,305  
 Group C  2026  0.6% + Lib.(3m)   156,917   0.6% + Lib.(3m)         199,433  
 Group D  2026  3.90%   74,541   3.90%          49,040  
 Group E  2033  3.88%  2,369   -  - 
 Group F  2024  3.90%   2,157   -  - 
 Group G  2023  3.90%  1,165  3.90%           3,128  
 Group H  2022  3.90%  -  3.90%             539  
 Group I 2022  6.25%  -  6.25%             796  
 Group J  2022  6.95%  -  6.95%             985  

          
Total lease liabilities     599,151    627,177 

 
 
Starting from the mid-March 2023, a leased aircraft with a carrying amount of AZN 143,660 thousand 
as of 31 December 2022 recognised under right-of-use assets has been grounded due to the sanctions 
imposed on the lessor. The Group’s payment obligations under the lease agreement have been 
recognised up to the mid-March 2023, however no payments could have been made due to the 
sanctions imposed on the lessor.  
 
The leases from Group A and C were acquired through sublease from the Parent. 
 
 

18. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 
 

 

31 December  
2022 

 
31 December  

2021 
    
Loans and borrowings  283,587    264,931 
Accrued interest on loans and borrowings  707    528  
    
Total loans and borrowings  284,294   265,459 

    
Loans and borrowings, non-current portion  251,197   248,112  
Loans and borrowings, current portion  33,097   17,347 

    
Total loans and borrowings  284,294   265,459 

 
 
Loans and borrowings classified as per lender, interest rate and currency in the below table: 
 
   Interest  31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

 Currency  rate  Rate, %  Amount  Rate, %  Amount 

            
            
Bank A USD  Fixed  3.88%-5.50%   92,397   3.88%-5.50%  87,190 
Bank B USD  Fixed  4.50%-5.00%   131,176   3.88%-5.00%  154,725 
Bonds issued to public USD  Fixed  5.00%   51,213   5.00%  17,071 
Bank D USD  Fixed  2.24%   9,508   -  - 
Bank B EUR  Fixed  -  -  5.00%  6,473 

            
Total loans and borrowings      284,294    265,459 
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The maturity profile of loans and borrowings is as follows: 
 
 31 December  

2022 
 31 December  

2021 

    
Due in one month 4,429  2,167 
Due from one month to one year 28,668  15,180 

    
Total current portion of loans and borrowings 33,097  17,347 

    
Due from one year to five years 110,059  70,987 
Due over five years 141,138  177,125 

    
Total long-term portion of loans and borrowings 251,197  248,112 

    
Total loans and borrowings 284,294  265,459 

 
 
The collateral profile of loans and borrowings is as follows: 
 

 

 31 December  
2022  

31 December  
2021 

     
Parent's property and equipment  131,176  161,198 
Aircraft  92,397  87,190 
Unsecured  60,721  17,071 
     
Total loans and borrowings  284,294  265,459 

 
 
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 
 
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including 
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash 
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s statement of cash flows as cash 
flows from financing activities. 
 
As of 31 December 2022   Cash changes  Non-cash changes     

 01-Jan-22  
Financing cash flows 

(i)  

Payments on 
behalf of the 

Group   

New 
leases 

 
Re- 

measurement 

 
Forex 

 

Other 
changes 

(ii)  31-Dec 22 

                
Lease liabilities 627,177  (85,230)  -  42,265  2,462  -  12,477  599,151 
Loans and borrowings 265,459  18,682  -  -  -  (25)  178  284,294 

                
Total liabilities from 

financing activities 892,636  (66,548)  -  42,265 
 

2,462 
 

(25)  12,655  883,445 

 
 
As of 31 December 2021   Cash changes  Non-cash changes     

 01-Jan-21  
Financing cash flows 

(i)  

Payments on 
behalf of the 

Group   

New 
leases 

 
Re- 

measurement  

 
Forex 

 

Other 
changes 

(ii)  31-Dec 21 

                
Lease liabilities 698,944  (113,922)  (1,261)  56,815  (17,635)  -  4,236  627,177 
Loans and borrowings 297,678  (31,724)  -  -  -  (547)  52  265,459 

                
Total liabilities from 

financing activities 996,622  (145,646)  (1,261)  56,815 
 

(17,635) 
 

(547)  4,288  892,636 
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(i) Financing cash flows make up the net amount of proceeds and payments from loans and borrowings 
and lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

(ii) Other changes include interest accruals and payments. 

 
 
19. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 

 

 

31 December  
2022 

 
31 December  

2021 

    
Current bank accounts 386,088  307,906 
Cash in transit 16,309  - 

    
Total cash and bank balances 402,397  307,906 

 
 
AZN 20,400 thousand was held in one of the current bank accounts as a collateral of a guarantee 
for five years and presented as restricted cash under non-current assets as of 31 December 2022 
and 2021. 
 
Management has not recognised any loss allowance for expected credit losses under IFRS 9 for cash 
and bank balances as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 as this would not have any material impact on 
the consolidated financial statements. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency, credit risk as well 
as a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 24. 
 
 

20. BANK DEPOSITS 
 
During 2022, the Group placed AZN 425,000 thousand 0.4% interest-bearing USD denominated 
deposit in one of the banks. 
 
 

21. PROVISIONS 
 
Present value of estimated last overhaul costs was recognised as provision within non-current 
liabilities in accordance to IAS 37 as at the lease commencement date. Maintenance provisions 
were estimated based on the costs of the overhauls and flight hours/cycles of aircraft under the 
lease. The expected cost of the last overhaul was then discounted from the lease commencement 
date till the last overhaul date using risk-free rate. The estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis 
and revised whenever appropriate.  
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 Maintenance 
provisions 

  
At 1 January 2021 92,281 
  
Unwinding of discount 277 
Reversal of provision (61,511) 

  
At 1 January 2022 31,047 
  
Unwinding of discount 442 

  
At 31 December 2022 31,489 

 
 
Reversal of provision during 2021 was due to termination as a result of purchase of aircraft 
previously leased and modification of lease contracts (Note 9). 
 
 

22. ADVANCES PAID 
 

 

31 December  
2022 

 
31 December  

2021 

    
Advance payments for purchase of aircraft  257,588   96,714 
Advance payments for aircraft repair service providers for PBH  77,652   53,892 
Advance payments for purchase of engines  21,900   - 
Advance payments on behalf of the Parent  11,463   3,379 
Refundable contributions for maintenance reserve  -   26,165 

    
Total advances paid 368,603  180,150 

 
 
The carrying amount of the advance payment relating to PBH agreement for the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2022 was AZN 77,652 thousand (2021: AZN 53,892 thousand). The 
maintenance and repair costs covered by PBH agreement expensed off during the year amounted 
to AZN 10,403 thousand (2021: AZN 12,120 thousand) for the Group. 
 
 

23. REVALUATION RESERVES 
 
The revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of aircraft. When revalued aircraft are sold, the 
portion of the aircraft revaluation reserve that relates to that asset is transferred directly to 
retained earnings. Items of other comprehensive income included in the aircraft revaluation 
reserve will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. 
 
As of 1 January 2021, AZN 32,643 thousand was transferred from retained earnings to revaluation 
reserve to account for transfer of aircraft from investment property to property and equipment. 
 
No revaluation was performed as of 31 December 2022 and 2021 (Note 4). 
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Exposure to credit, interest rate, currency and liquidity risk arises in the normal course 
of the Group’s business. The Group does not hedge its exposure to such risks. 
 
 
Capital management 
 
The Group manages its capital to ensure the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to shareholder through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2021. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (total debt in Note 17 and 18 after deducting 
cash and bank balances) and shareholder equity of the Group. The Group is not subject to any 
externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.  
 
Trade and other receivables (excluding VAT recoverable) consist of a large number of customers, 
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas. 
 
Concentration of trade and other receivables is set out in below table: 
 

 31 December 2022 
 

31 December 2021 

        
Company A 21,549  17%  38,952  19% 
Company B 8,513  7%  25,581  12% 
Company C 7,410  6%  6,408  3% 
Others 88,232  70%  135,291  66% 

        
Total  125,704  100%  206,232  100% 

 
 
Concentration of amounts due from related parties is set out in below table: 

 
 31 December 2022 

 
31 December 2021 

        
Agent E  30,569   45%  47,997  56% 
Agent F  18,955  28%  13,657  16% 
Agent G  17,373  26%  14,964  18% 
Others 863  1%  8,450  10% 

        
Total  67,760  100%  85,068  100% 
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Apart from above, the Group does not have significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty 
or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group defines counterparties as 
having similar characteristics if they are related entities. The concentration of credit risk is limited due 
to the fact that the customer base is large and unrelated. In the opinion of management, the Group 
has no significant credit risk with abovementioned agents, as the Group maintains long-term and 
stable business relationships with healthy repayment history. 
 
Bank deposits and restricted cash of AZN 425,000 thousand and AZN 20,400 thousand, respectively, 
are held in Bank A. From cash and bank balances at the end of 2022, AZN 291,206 thousand (2021: 
AZN 192,106 thousand) is placed in Bank A and AZN 85,536 thousand is placed in Bank C (2021: AZN 
64,067 thousand is placed Bank B).  
 
Exposure to credit risk 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure, except for cash 
and bank balances where exposure is reduced by the amount of petty cash. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 
 

Carrying amount 
31 December  

2022 
 31 December  

2021 
    
    
Bank deposits 425,000  - 
Cash and bank balances 402,397  307,906 
Trade and other receivables  119,715  202,121 
Amounts due from related parties 65,019  83,664 
Restricted cash 20,400  20,400 
Security deposits 19,846  22,495 

    
Total 1,052,377  636,586 

 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Changes in interest rate impact primarily lease liabilities by changing their cash flows. 
 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
 
An increase of the variable interest rates would have decreased equity and profit or loss by 
the amounts shown below. This analysis is based on variable interest rates variances that the Group 
considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. 
 
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. 
 
 Profit or loss  Profit or loss 

 

31 December  
2022 

 31 December  
2021 

    
Three-month USD Libor 50 basis points increase (2,070)  (1,311) 

    
Cash flow sensitivity  (2,070)  (1,311) 
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A decrease of the variable interest rates would have increased equity and profit or loss by the same 
amounts shown in above table. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to 
exchange rate fluctuations arise. 
 
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases and lease liabilities and loans 
and borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the AZN.  
 
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 
 
The Group is mainly exposed to the risk of change of exchange rates of AZN against USD.  
 
The book values of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency as at the reporting 
date have been provided below: 
 
31 December 2022 AZN  USD  EUR  CNY  JPY  KRW  Other  Total 

                
Bank deposits  -  425,000  -  -  -  -  -  425,000 
Cash and bank balances  17,811  301,141  74,853  5,108  -  1,362  2,122  402,397 
Trade and other receivables  7,062  43,933  816  42,519  7,890  10,078  7,417  119,715 
Amounts due from related parties 18,179  17,521  29,319  -  -  -  -  65,019 
Security deposits  -  19,846  -  -  -  -  -  19,846 
Restricted cash  -  20,400  -  -  -  -  -  20,400 

                
Total financial assets 43,052  827,841  104,988  47,627  7,890  11,440  9,539  1,052,377 

                
 Lease liabilities  -  599,151  -  -  -  -  -  599,151 
 Loans and borrowings -  284,294  -  -  -  -  -  284,294 
 Trade and other payables  86,149  54,835  28,175  7,062  1,244  3,327  5,572  186,364 
 Provisions  -  31,489  -  -  -  -  -  31,489 
 Amounts due to related parties  11,608  -  860  -  -  -  -  12,468 

             
Total financial liability 97,757  969,769  29,035  7,062  1,244  3,327  5,572  1,113,766 

                
Open position   (141,928)  75,953  40,565  6,646  8,113  3,967  (6,684) 

                
                
 
31 December 2021 AZN  USD  EUR  CNY  JPY  KRW 

 
Other  Total 

                
                
 Cash and bank balances  1,976 

 
293,701 

 
1,325 

 
7,890 

 
107 

 
2,131  776 

 
307,906 

 Trade and other receivables  19,778  42,470  50,592  36,363  18,690  17,917  16,311  202,121 
 Amounts due from related 

parties  14,304  22,298  47,062  -  -  -  -  83,664 
 Security deposit  -  22,495  -  -  -  -  -  22,495 
 Restricted cash  - 

 
20,400 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-  - 

 
20,400 

 
          

  
   

Total financial assets 36,058 
 

401,364 
 

98,979 
 

44,253 
 

18,797 
 

20,048  17,087 
 

636,586 

                
 Lease liabilities  - 

 
627,177 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-  - 

 
627,177 

 Loans and borrowings - 
 

258,986 
 

6,473 
 

- 
 

- 
 

-  - 
 

265,459 
 Trade and other payables  53,922  70,780  25,680  8,903  -  -  10,560  169,845 
 Amounts due to related parties  1,587  260  53,580  -  -  -  -  55,427 
 Provisions  -  31,047  -  -  -  -  -  31,047 

 
        

 
   

Total financial liability 55,509 
 

988,250 
 

85,733 
 

8,903 
 

- 
 

-  10,560 
 

1,148,955 

                
Open position   (586,886) 

 
13,246 

 
35,350 

 
18,797 

 
20,048  6,527 

 
(492,918) 
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Sensitivity analysis 
 
A weakening of the AZN against the following currencies at year end would have decreased profit 
or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate 
variances that the Group considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. 
The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 
 
31 December 2022 USD   EUR  CNY  JPY  KRW  Other 
            
10% weakening of AZN  (14,193)   7,595    4,057    665    811    397 

 
 
31 December 2021 USD   EUR  CNY  JPY   KRW  Other 
             
10% weakening of AZN (58,689)  1,325  3,535  1,880   2,005  653 

 
 
A strengthening of the AZN against the above currencies would have had the equal but opposite 
effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables 
remain constant. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle all liabilities as they are due. 
The Group’s liquidity position is carefully monitored and managed.  
 
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative 
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of 
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.  
 
 31 December 2022 

 Within one year  1 to 5 years  Over 5 years  Total 
        
Lease liabilities  157,471    423,748    158,803    740,022  
Loans and borrowings  45,720    145,318    152,140    343,178  
Trade and other payables  186,364    -    -    186,364  
Provisions  -    -    31,489    31,489  
Amounts due to related parties  12,468    -    -    12,468  

        
Total financial liabilities  402,023    569,066    342,432    1,313,521  

 
  
 31 December 2021 

 Within one year  1 to 5 years  Over 5 years  Total 
        
Lease liabilities  119,588    447,042    213,114    779,744  
Loans and borrowings  28,776    111,506    198,345    338,627  
Trade and other payables  169,845    -    -    169,845  
Amounts due to related parties  55,427    -    -    55,427  
Provisions  -    -    31,047    31,047  

        
Total financial liabilities  373,637    558,547    442,506    1,374,690  
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Fair values versus carrying amounts 
 
Management believes that the fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, which are 
classified within Level 2 category of the above hierarchy, approximates their carrying amounts. The 
estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using available 
market information, where it exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgment 
is necessarily required to interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value. Management 
has used all available market information in estimating the fair value of financial instruments. 
The Group uses the hierarchy mentioned in Note 3 to determine and disclose fair value of financial 
instruments. 
 

 
25. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
Capital commitments  
 
Commitments related to the pre-delivery payments for the acquisition of new aircraft and engines 
were AZN 756,478 thousand (2021: AZN 370,997 thousand). Authorised future commitments 
(excluding pre-delivery payments) for the acquisition of new aircraft and engines by the Group for 
which contracts were signed until 31 December 2022 amounted AZN 2,053,801 thousand. The 
maturity of undiscounted future capital expenditures (including pre-delivery payments) as of 31 
December 2022 is set out below:  
 

 Within one year  1 to 5 years  Over 5 years  Total 
        
31 December 2022 557,859  1,443,206  809,215  2,810,279 

 
 
Taxation contingencies 
 
The taxation system in the Republic of Azerbaijan continues to evolve and is characterised by regular 
changes in legislation, official pronouncements and court decisions, which may be subject to varying 
interpretation by different tax authorities. Taxes are subject to review and investigation by state 
authorities who have the authority to impose severe fines, penalties and interest charges. A tax year 
remains open for review by the tax authorities during the three subsequent calendar years; however, 
under certain circumstances a tax year may remain open longer. Recent events within the Republic of 
Azerbaijan suggest that the tax authorities are taking a more assertive position in their interpretation 
and enforcement of tax legislation. 

 
The Tax Code of the Republic of Azerbaijan establishes general principles of taxation in Azerbaijan, 
sets the rule for determining, payment and collection of taxes, identifies the rights and 
responsibilities of taxpayers and tax authorities. The Tax Code does not contain provisions 
specifically regulating air transportation services. For withholding and value added tax purposes 
such services fall under the category of international transportation, whereas for profit tax 
purposes general services provided. All clauses in respect of these service categories are general 
and subject to interpretations. Therefore, the interpretation for air cargo transportation services 
involves uncertainty and judgement. 
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These circumstances may create tax risks in Azerbaijan that are substantially more significant than 
in other countries. Management believes that it has provided adequately for tax liabilities based on 
its interpretations of applicable Azerbaijan tax legislation, official pronouncements and court 
decisions. However, the interpretations of the relevant authorities could differ and the effect on 
the consolidated financial statements, if the authorities were successful in enforcing their 
interpretations, could be significant. 
 
Operating environment 
 
Emerging markets such as Azerbaijan are subject to different risks than more developed markets, 
including economic, political and social, and legal and legislative risks. Laws and regulations affecting 
businesses in Azerbaijan continue to change rapidly, tax and regulatory frameworks are subject to 
varying interpretations. The future stability of the Azerbaijan economy is heavily influenced by 
reforms and developments and the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures 
undertaken by the government. 
 
Because Azerbaijan produces and exports large volumes of oil and gas, its economy is particularly 
sensitive to the price of oil and gas on the world market. 
 
Due to the ongoing conflict between the Russian Federation and Ukraine, the US, UK, EU and other 
countries announced numerous sanctions on certain Russian officials, businessmen and companies, 
which are targeted to have a negative impact on the Russian economy. As a result of these events 
the flights were cancelled over airspace of Russia and Ukraine. Because of existing 
interdependencies between Russian and other CIS economies, these developments may result in 
reduced access of the regional businesses to international capital and export markets, weakening of 
the Russian Ruble and other CIS regional currencies, decline in capitals markets and other negative 
economic consequences.  
 
The suspension of flights to and from Russia and Ukraine has no material commercial impact on the 
operations of the Group as these two countries represent insignificant portion of the Group’s total 
operations.  
 
The Group’s management carefully evaluates all transactions with Russian based vendors and none 
of these transactions are in the breach of sanctions as of the issuance date of these financial 
statements. 
 
The Group’s management is monitoring developments in the current environment and taking 
necessary measures to support the sustainability and development of the Group’s business in 
the foreseeable future. The impact of further economic and political developments on future 
operations and financial position of the Group might be significant. 
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Related parties comprise the shareholder of the Group and all other companies in which 
those shareholders, either individually or together, have a controlling interest. 
 
During the year, the Group entered into the following trading transactions with related parties: 
 

  
Year ended  

31 December 2022  
Year ended  

31 December 2021 

 Notes 
Related party 
transactions  

Total per 
category  

Related party 
transactions  

Total per 
category 

         
Revenue 5   3,225,006    2,879,573 
- parent  30,050     54,304    
- sold through agents - entities under common control  4 731,322     667,592    
         
Fuel*    886,577    546,327 
- parent   -      15,089    
- entities under common control  -      326    
         
Ground handling, aero navigation and landing 

charges 
    317,331      334,820  

- entities under common control   10,748      24,600    
         
Aircraft and engine lease costs     149,716       162,870  
- parent   93,538      100,272    
- entities under common control   2,583      38,307    
         
Commissions     132,567      118,883  
- entities under common control   17,655      24,258    
         
Staff costs    84,334    88,846 
- key management personnel  14,533    14,271   
         
Fees for transportation by chartered flights     59,623      132,845  
- parent   44,032      47,781    
- entities under common control   14,627      83,364    
         
Crew rental and other crew costs     34,146      37,015  
- entities under common control   12,670      10,048    
         
Other costs     37,536      39,325 
- parent   -      562    
- entities under common control   358      141    

 
 
* During 2021, AZN 15,089 thousand relates to the fuel expenses purchased by the Parent on behalf of the 
Group.  
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The following balances with related parties were outstanding at the end of the reporting period: 
 
  31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

  
Related party 

balances  
Total per 
category  

Related party 
balances  

Total per 
category 

         
Amounts due from related parties, net of allowance:    65,019    83,664 
- parent  18,179    13,632   
- entities under common control  46,840    70,032   
         
Amounts due to related parties:    12,468    55,427 
- parent  11,608    21,828    
- entities under common control  860     33,599   

 
 
The Group may enter into sales and purchase agreements with the same counterparty in the 
normal course of business. The following table sets out the carrying amounts of recognised financial 
instruments that are subject to the above agreements. 
 
31 December 2022    

 
Amounts due from 

related parties  
Amounts due to 
related parties 

    
Gross amounts 110,506  57,955  
Amounts offset in accordance with IAS 32 offsetting criteria (45,487)  (45,487) 
Net amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position 65,019  12,468 
Amounts related to recognised financial instruments that do not meet some or 

all of the offsetting criteria (12,468)  (12,468) 

    
Net amounts 52,551  - 

 
 
31 December 2021    

 
Amounts due from 

related parties  
Amounts due to 
related parties 

    
Gross amounts 240,778  212,541  
Amounts offset in accordance with IAS 32 offsetting criteria (157,114)  (157,114) 
Net amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position 83,664  55,427 
Amounts related to recognised financial instruments that do not meet some or 

all of the offsetting criteria (6,445)  (6,445) 

    
Net amounts 77,219  48,982 
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The following table details the risk profile of due from related parties based on the Group’s 
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly 
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on 
past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer segments. 
 
 Due from related parties – days past due 

31 December 2022 Not past 
due 

 
<30 

 
31-60 

 
61-90 

 
91-120 

 
>120 

 
Total 

              
Expected credit loss rate 0.98%  1.96%  9.82%  11.79%  14.79%  19.13%  4.05% 
Estimated total gross carrying 

amount at default  27,332    27,535    2,496    2,588    2,549    5,260    67,760  
Lifetime ECL  (267)   (541)   (245)   (305)   (377)   (1,006)   (2,741) 

              
             65,019 

 
 
 Due from related parties – days past due 

31 December 2021 Not past 
due 

 
<30 

 
31-60 

 
61-90 

 
91-120 

 
>120 

 
Total 

              
Expected credit loss rate 1.16%  3.29%  -  -  -  -  1.65% 
Estimated total gross carrying 

amount at default 65,471  19,597  -  -  -  -  85,068 
Lifetime ECL (759)  (645)  -  -  -  -  (1,404) 

              
             83,664 

 
 
The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 25. 
 
The following table details the risk profile of amounts due from related parties based on the 
Group’s provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show 
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss 
allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different 
customer segments. 
 

 2022  2021 
 

   
Balance as at 1 January 1,404  2,592 
    
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 1,510  (1,389) 
Amount recovered (489)  (478) 
Change in loss allowance due to new amounts due from related parties 

originated net of those derecognised due to settlement 316 
 

679 

    
Balance as at 31 December 2,741  1,404 
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27. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 
 
In January 2023, Silk Way Development LLC purchased 3,587,752 shares of Silk Way West Airlines 
LLC with par value of AZN 1 for AZN 3,588 thousand. 
 
In April 2023, the Group obtained USD denominated loan of AZN 13,232 thousand from one of the 
banks with an interest rate of 1.75 per cent and a maturity date of 19 June 2023. 
 


